

George Russill Fellowship Report for 2011-2012

Age-Friendly Region Indicator Project

Mark Person, AICP Master of Urban and Regional Planning This paper documents the Russill Fellowship process for the 2011 – 2012 academic year. The Russill Fellowship awardee works with the Institute of Portland Metropolitan Studies at Portland State on a project to benefit the greater Portland region.

Contents

Russill Fellowship Proposal	5
Project Process	9
AFC Domains Possible Indicators	14
Age-Friendly Region Data Story	
Is the Portland region age friendly?	
Figure 1: Growth Projections for the 65 and Over Population 2010 to 2030	
Figure 2: 2010 United States population pyramid	
Figure 3: 2010 greater Portland region population pyramid	20
Connecting Equity and Age Friendliness	21
Existing Age-friendly Efforts	21
Health, Participation and Security	22
Figure 4: 1990 Population Age Data by census tract	23
Figure 5: 2000 Population Age Data by census tract	24
Figure 6: 2010 Population Age Data by census tract	25
Figure 7: Number of People 65 and Over with Low Access to a Supermarket or Large Grocery Store	e26
Figure 8: Population 65 and Over and Amenities in the Region	27
Figure 9: Percent of Median Household Income Spent on Housing and Transportation (all ages)	
Figure 10: Population 65 and Over and Frequent Transit Service in the Region	29
Figure 11: Population 65 and Over and Sidewalks in the Region	
Figure 12: Educational Attainment of Adults 45-64 and 65 and Over Portland Region	
Figure 13: Educational Attainment of Adults 45-64 and 65 and Over United States	
Figure 14: Intergenerational Opportunity Areas	
Figure 15: 2010 Average Monthly Social Security Benefit of Retired Workers	
Figure 16: Income Comparison for Older Adults by County	35
Figure 17: Unemployment by Age and County	
Figure 18: 2010 Percentage of Average Monthly Social Security Benefit Needed to Afford a 1-Bedr	oom37
References	

This page intentionally left blank

Russill Fellowship Proposal



To: Shelia Martin, Director, Institute of Metropolitan Studies

From: Mark Person, AICP

RE: Russill Fellowship Proposal

Date: October 25, 2011

Introduction

The aging of the population has been well documented in the past decade. The baby boom cohort – those born between 1946-64 – started turning 65 earlier this year and represents a major component of the projected "silver tsunami" that will have major impacts on future planning efforts and policy responses. This aging of the population coincides with increased urbanization in the United States. The conflux of these two events means that our cities will have to accommodate residents of all ages. The World Health Organization (WHO) conceived their Age-Friendly Cities Project in 2005 and Portland State University's Institute on Aging (IOA) has been at the forefront of this work. The Age-Friendly Cities Project aims to identify elements of the environment and society that encourage active aging and create cities and communities that are friendly to those of all ages and abilities.

The Age-Friendly Cities Project identifies eight "domains"¹ that play a role in active aging. Some of these domains are easier to quantify such as housing and transportation and some are harder to identify and track over time such as social participation and community support. Currently, efforts are being undertaken by members of the WHO's Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities to develop indictors to track progress over time. The IOA, as part of a partnership with the WHO and the City of Portland, understand the need to develop both an action plan for aging in Portland, as well as a set of age-friendly indicators.

Portland State's Institute of Metropolitan Studies (IMS) has an ongoing project to identify profiles and indicators at the neighborhood level within the Portland area. Additionally, IMS is working with Metro and the Coalition for a Livable Future (CLF) on the Regional Equity Atlas 2.0. During this process, staff from IMS is working with CLF to identify indicators and data sources for equity mapping purposes. These collaborations represent important efforts that relate

¹ (1) Outdoor spaces and buildings; (2) Transportation; (3) Housing; (4) Respect and social inclusion; (5) Social participation; (6) Civic participation and employment (7); Communication and information; and (8) Community support and health services

directly to the directions of the WHO and the IOA and offer an opportunity to build synergistically upon one another.

In keeping with the missions of both IMS and IOA, this project proposes utilizing the ongoing work of the Age-Friendly Cities Project, the Greater Portland Pulse indicators work, and efforts by Metro, Portland, CLF and other organizations in the area. More specifically, this project will focus on developing indicators and identifying data sources and to better inform all future indicator projects about the importance of population aging and the vast array of social and built environment variables that impact the quality of life and wellbeing of those of all ages and abilities in the Portland region and beyond.

Objective

The objective of the Russill Fellowship over the next academic year is to work with IMS and IOA to identify measurable indicators of age-friendly cities. Data sources and data gaps in these indicators will also be identified. By developing usable indicators and identifying consistent sources of data at a geographic scale, whether that scale is a block group, census tract, neighborhood or region, it will advance the ability of the Portland region to measure its age friendliness and to identify the strengths, weaknesses and opportunities for the area. It will also assist the IOA, IMS, and City of Portland in understanding how changes are occurring over time and whether attention should be paid to progress, or lack thereof, over time.

Scope of Work

In a coordinated effort between Portland State University's Institute of Metropolitan Studies and the Institute on Aging the following activities will be performed:

- Review of the indicator landscape for equity and livability, both within the Portland area and worldwide
- Review of available data to track these indicators and determine which ones are most relevant to age-friendly cities
- Assist in the preparation of a manuscript for *Metroscape*, detailing efforts in the region that aim to improve age friendliness
- Coordinate efforts of local partners to determine which indicators identified through Greater Portland Pulse, CLF's Regional Equity Atlas 2.0, and other projects, are applicable to tracking age friendliness in the greater Portland region
- Assist in convening experts in the field to determine if there are items and directions that have been overlooked by current efforts (e.g., CLF focus group on aging)
- Assist with focus groups or key interviews that capture the views of older adults on agefriendly communities
- Assist in developing presentation on age-friendly indicators for April 7th WHO event on World Health Day (re: aging/older adults)
- Using indicators and data available, compare either neighborhoods, census blocks, regions or another geographic area on their age-friendly assets and opportunities

• Update the GPP to include an age-friendliness tab

Project Period: October 2011 to June 2012

Work Plan

October – December

- Assist in manuscript preparation and data gathering for *Metroscape* article related to aging
- Review GPP work and participate in WEAVE event in November
- Review of existing indicators
- Assist in convening CLF focus group in November

December deliverables:

White paper of indicators relevant to aging populations and data sources Summary of findings from the November CLF focus group

January – March

- Review and research what data is available or missing for indicators
- Convene experts to discuss current state of age-friendly indictors
- Assist in conducting focus group or interviews with older adults

March deliverables:

Summary of expert feedback of age-friendly indicators

Summary of feedback from focus groups/interviews with general older adult population Finalize list of indicators and the data sources to be used for the next phase of the project

April – June

- Assist in preparing presentation for April 7th event for WHO's World Health Day
- Coordinate with IMS and IOA staff to update the Portland Pulse to include an agefriendliness tab
- Final Report and analysis
- Map/comparisons of geographical unit

June deliverables:

Successful launch of the Portland Pulse age-friendly tool

Report documenting the process from identifying indicators to why certain cuts points were used (for example people over 65, unemployment of 20 percent or more, etc.)

Project Process

George A. Russill Fellowship Project Process

Phase One

- Research existing indicator projects from across the country and internationally
- Research age-friendly initiatives to see what metrics were being used
- Research on best age-friendly practices

Phase Two

- Interviews and public outreach to older adults and professionals
- Draft a list of potential indicators and research data sources
- Continue research on best age-friendly practices
- Obtain feedback on draft indicators from the public and experts

Phase Three

- Continue to obtain feedback and narrow list of indicators
- Identify and obtain data sources for indicators
- Compile data and analyze trends
- Data story production

Coalition for a Livable Future Focus Group Notes

Coalition for a Livable Future (CLF) is in the process of updating and improving their Regional Equity Atlas (REA). As part of this update, CLF has conducted a series of focus groups with specific populations in the region. On December 12th, 2011, a representative from CLF met with aging stakeholders to get a better idea of the issues that are important to older adults.

This memo details some of the highlights from that meeting.

When asked how the Atlas could support the work of stakeholders in the older adult community and what indicators would be the biggest priorities participants said:

- Information from the REA could be used to inform service delivery to older adults
- Service frequency (not just service routes) is a big concern for older adults who cannot wait 20-30 minutes for a bus. On weekends, frequencies are sometimes reduced.

Access is something that the REA focuses on but access to health care facilities is not one of their metrics. The group thought that this was important for the older adult population. The REA is focusing on *preventative* health factors but they acknowledged that this could be different for older adults.

• Healthcare institutions that either accept Medicare and maybe more importantly, locations that are accepting new patients.

There was a lot of interesting discussion on the term "access" and how geographic location and nearness to a service does not necessarily mean that you have the opportunity to obtain those services or goods. While this is probably somewhat outside the scope of the REA project, it was a limitation that CLF seemed to acknowledge.

- Access means something different to disabled and older adults.
- A representative from the Native American community said that the 20 minute neighborhood does not have the same meaning in their community in her opinion.

The group talked about what the cutoff should be for age, should it be 60, 65...The consensus seemed to be that 65 was industry standard but it would also be nice to see a breakdown of the population that is 85 and older because often times that population will have much different needs than the 65 year olds. Someone also said that it would be interesting to see the population 45 and over to be able to visualize the entire baby boom.

- The group emphasized that sense of community was an important factor but they acknowledged that it would be nearly impossible to map.
- Keeping a "wish list" of what would be nice to have mapped was brought up and moving forward what data could be collected.
- A map showing all the 1-story houses in the region might be beneficial as these could potentially be age in place friendly locations for older adults.

Age-Friendly Portland Indicator Project Public Input

Stakeholder Interviews	
NAME	ORGANIZATION
Alan Lehto	TriMet
Alberta Palmer	Friendly House North West
Amber Kern-Johnson	Hollywood Senior Center
Angela Weaver	Oregon Office of Disability and Health
Arleta Ward-Christian	Urban Leave of Portland
Aubre Dickson	National Equity Fund
Brett Horner	Portland Parks and Rec
Chenoa Landry	North American Youth and Family Center
Chris Kochtitzky	Center for Disease Control
Chris Smith	Portland Planning Commission
Christine Lau	Asian Health & Service Center
Danielle Brooks	City of Portland Office of Management and Finance
Darin Lund	Upstream Public Health
David Hanson	Multnomah County Aging & Disability Services
Debbie Durham	Life By Design NW
Deborah Stein	City of Portland Bureau of Planning and Sustainability
Derenda Schubert	Bridge Meadows
Donita Fry	North American Youth and Family Center
Donna Green	Portland Bureau of Transportation Ped Pals
Dr. Don Lollar	OHSU
Dr. Elena Anderson	OHSU
Eli Spevek	Orange Splot, LLC
Elizabeth DeNiro-Wallace	Impact NW
Frances Spak	Jewish Family and Child Services
Kim McCarty	Portland Housing Bureau
Kristine Canham	City of Portland Senior Recreation
Lauren Fontanarosa	Friendly House
Megan Braunsten	Hillsdale Main Street
Melanie Pedersen & Julie Dahlman	Baby Boomer Social Club
Nancy Harger	Portland Parks and Rec
Nick Sauvie	Rose CDC
Radcliffe Dacaney	Portland BPS
Steph Routh	Willamette Pedestrian Coalition
Sy Adler	Portland State University
Tamala Newsome	Rosa Parks Elementary School

Talk Shops		
DATE	GROUP	LOCATION
3/6/2012	IRCO Russian Elders	10301 NE GLISAN ST
3/7/2012	Baby Boomers Social Club	4040 NE TILLAMOOK ST
3/12/2012	North West Friendly House Gay and Grey	1737 NW 26TH AVE
3/13/2012	Hollywood Senior Center	1820 NE 40TH AVE
3/13/2012	Cascade Aids Project	208 SW 5TH AVE
3/13/2012	NAYA- Portland Youth and Elders Council	5135 NE COLUMBIA BLVD
3/20/2012	Terwilliger Plaza	2545 SW TERWILLIGER BLVD
3/28/2012	Hillsdale Main Street	6388 SW CAPITOL HWY
3/28/2012	IRCO Nepalese Elders	10301 NE GLISAN ST
3/29/2012	Calaroga Terrace	1400 NE 2 nd Avenue
5/08/2012	Urban League Senior Center	5325 NE MLK Jr. Blvd

Vision Shops		
DATE	LOCATION	ADDRESS
4/11/2012	East Portland Community Center	740 SE 106th AVE
4/12/2012	Watershed at Hillsdale	6388 SW CAPITOL HWY

AFC Domains Possible Indicators

Overall General Demo Info:

Indicator	Data Source
Population of 45-64 by tract	Census
Population of 65-84 by tract	Census
Population 85 and over by tract	Census

Outdoor spaces and buildings:

Indicator	Data Source
Proximity to toxic waste and superfund sites	EPA
Proximity to parks and green space	RLIS
Public bathroom accessibility	City
Inventory of benches	Civic Apps?
Public buildings that are accessible	Alan, city?
Proximity to Age-friendly businesses	EIA

Transportation:

Indicator	Data Source
Sidewalks	RLIS
Transit Access	RLIS/TriMet – In GPP
Cost of Transportation (% income spent on transportation)	NHTS/PUMS
Percent of 65+ who use public transit (45 and 85 too?)	NHTS/ACS
Street lighting	BPS?
Transit stops with shelters and benches	TriMet
Crosswalk density (intersections/# marked crosswalks)	
Paratransit requests and ramp deployments	TriMet

Housing:

Housing.	
Indicator	Data Source
Percent change in property taxes*	Multnomah County
Housing cost burden (households paying 30% or more of income)	ACS
Transportation + Housing costs	GPP/PUM
Proportion of single story homes	RLIS?
Foreclosures (age data available?)	HUD/LISC
Average Social Security compared to fair market rent	Soc. Security office/HUD

*Note: There is a property tax deferral for older adults that qualify

Respect and social inclusion:

Respect and social inclusion.	
Indicator	Data Source
Dissimilarity Index	GPP Did not use this
Wage distribution	Bureau of Economic
	Analysis
Schools or school districts that reach out to older adults	Websearch
U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U U	Analysis

Social Participation:

Indicator	Data Source
Percent 65+ who have socialized with friends/neighbors in past week	Communities count in King County has something, anything similar locally?
Percent 65+ who attended movies, sports, clubs etc. in past week	

Civic participation and employment:

Indicator	Data Source
Number of jobs within 5 miles	ESRI Business Analyst
Unemployment rates by age	ACS
Availability of retail establishments	ESRI Business Analyst
Active neighborhood watch groups	?
Institutional infrastructure (churches, schools, etc.)	RLIS
Percent 65+ who volunteer	BLS?/GPP
Cities or counties with programs that engage older adults	?
Percent of 65+ in poverty status	
Communication and information:	
Communication and information:	Dete Course
Indicator	Data Source
	Data Source ACS?
Indicator	

Community support and health services:

Indicator	Data Source
Average distance to nearest medical facility/health clinic	RLIS, Reference USA
Locations that are accepting new Medicare patients	Emailed OMA 1/26/12 or
	NW Health Foundation
	(emailed 2/9/12)
Distance to closest library	RLIS
Percent of 65+ who consume 5+ daily servings of fruit/veggie	BRFSS
Mixed use areas	RLIS/Walkscore
Distance/Density to nearest residential care facility	Reference USA
Distance to nearest full service grocery	BPS/Reference USA

More/Other:

- Existing jurisdictions in the region that have age-friendly, elderly or universal design features in their development code or address it in their comprehensive plans
- Older adults who live alone and have the chance to be isolated
- Number and age of people who have meals on wheels delivered to their home
- Older adults who enroll in classes, age and other information from Portland State, PCC and others
- Where are people residing in long term care and other residential facilities?

Indicator notes and justification for what was used in the data story

The Portland Pulse utilizes the American Community Survey (ACS) for many of its data sources and indicators. The ACS is distributed to a sample of the population. For this reason it is not a complete enumeration of the population and there are margins of errors for the ACS information. When looking at a sample of a sample such as the case with older adults 65 and over, this margin of error can be quite large, sometimes nearly as large as the estimate. For this reason, it was difficult to use ACS for many of the indicators that I would have liked to track.

Most of the indicators that I chose to use identify older adults as those 65 and over. For some indicators I also looked at the 45 to 64 year old range in the 2010 Census data as this group almost completely encompasses the Baby Boom generation.

Data update timelines

Demographic age group pyramids and age by Census Tract information were used with Decennial Census. These will not need to be updated until the 2020 Census is released.

Educational attainment indicators used the ACS 2010 5-year estimates but could be updated when the 3-year estimates are released.

Intergenerational opportunity areas were created using Census 2010 information. These can be updated after Census 2020 is released.

The Social Security information is released on a yearly basis, usually in the fall. The site for download can be found here: <u>http://www.ssa.gov/policy/docs/statcomps/oasdi_zip/2010/index.html</u>

Income and employment indicator data used the ACS 2010 5-year estimates. These can either be updated once the new 5-year estimates are released or sooner with 3-year estimates if the margins of error are not too large.

Age-Friendly Region Data Story

Age-Friendly Region

Significance:

The world's population is aging. Decreasing birth rates in industrialized countries combined with longer life spans are creating a changing demographic. The oft-cited Baby Boomer generation, individuals born between 1946 and 1964, began turning 65 in 2011. For the next 18 years, between 7,000 and 10,000 members of this group will turn 65 in the United States each day. By 2030, the population of older adults in the United States is expected to double. In addition to the Baby Boomers' sheer volume, this group has many different characteristics than generations before them. As a whole, this group is more physically active, more mobile and more affluent than previous generations. Past generations of Americans included many members who never obtained drivers licenses and relied on public transportation (Kostyniuk and Shope, 2003). Baby Boomers, on the other hand, were brought up with a high level of reliance on the automobile, and women in particular use the car in higher numbers than women in the past (Spain, 1997). The Boomer generation experienced the civil rights, the environmental movement and the technological. This group has pioneered a new way of life and there is no reason to expect that this trend will change as they move into older adulthood and retirement.

Finding & Trends:

Is the Portland region age friendly?

What is age friendly? The World Health Organization (WHO) defines an age-friendly city as one that "encourages active ageing by optimizing opportunities for health, participation, and security in order to enhance quality of life as people age." In other words, in an age-friendly city, residents can continue to live full, meaningful lives regardless of their age. This story will explore some of the region's age-friendly features and barriers and attempt to determine if the region is in fact, age friendly. Additionally, which of these features contributes to or detracts from health, participation, and security? The data used for the analysis in this report is available for download at the bottom of the page.

Older adults are not a homogeneous group. On average, the needs of a 65 year old are quite different than an 85 year old. Similar to other age groups, income, education and employment varies widely for older adults. Due large size of the Baby Boom cohort, the 45-to-64 age group (mostly from 2010 Census Data) is explored in many of the findings within this data story. The present characteristics of this group can provide an idea of what opportunities and needs may be critical in the future.

Figure 1: Growth Projections for the 65 and Over Population 2010 to 2030

Category	Portland Region	United States
Growth rate in number of persons aged 65 and over from 2010 to 2030	107.3	77.6
Growth rate in proportion of persons aged 65 and over from 2010 to 2030	60.4	50.9
Number of persons age 65 and over in 2010	190,262	40,243,713
Number of persons aged 65 and over in 2030	394,406	71,453,471
Proportion of persons aged 65 and over in 2010	10.6	13
Proportion of persons aged 65 and over in 2030	17	19.7

Source: US Census Bureau, Interim State Population Projections (2005) and Office of Economic Analysis, Department of Administrative Services, State of Oregon (2004)

The population pyramid below for the United States shows the Baby Boom generation or "silver tsunami" quite clearly for the age groups 40 to 64. We can also see the Baby Boom echo - Generation Y, or Millennial Generation in the pyramid as another bulge in the 15 to 29 year old range.





Source: US Census Bureau

In contrast to the United States population pyramid, the Portland region pyramid for 2010 have some noticeable differences.



Figure 3: 2010 greater Portland region population pyramid

Source: US Census Bureau

In the 2010 Portland region population pyramid, there is a bulge that spans ages 25 to 64. Migration into the region accounts for more than 50 percent of the population increase for three of the four counties (see the migration information under the Our Region tab of the Portland Pulsehttp://portlandpulse.org/demog_migration). In contrast to the national population pyramid, there is not a dip between the Baby Boomers to the Millennial Generation. In this region, the population is aging but an above-average number of younger adults have been migrating to this area as well. This phenomenon makes the Boomer bulge less pronounced in the Portland region. Planning for an aging society in the Portland region includes anticipating a population that not only includes the Boomer generation that has already begun to reach 65 but also the echo generation, because of the in-migration of the younger creative class of individuals 25 to 44. This will continue the "boom" for the next 50-plus years. What challenges and opportunities will take place as part of this changing demographic? This demographic in the Portland region includes aging Boomers and also the in-migration of the younger creative class of individuals 25 to 44. What will this change mean for housing, transportation, the economy and services in our region? Many of the Baby Boomers that moved to the suburbs and started families 20 to 30 years ago are now aging in place in those areas. This story will not only explore older adults, defined here as individuals 65 and over here, but will also highlight the entire Baby Boom generation.

Connecting Equity and Age Friendliness

Portland City Council adopted the Portland Plan on April 25, 2012. This was the culmination of three years of work and public involvement in an effort to imagine Portland in 2035. Educated youth, economic prosperity and a healthy connected city are the fundamental components of the Plan. The Plan views all three of these components through an equity lens. The Plan defines equity as "...when everyone has access to the opportunities necessary to satisfy their essential needs, advance their well-being and achieve their full potential. We have a shared fate as individuals within a community and communities within society. All communities need the ability to shape their own present and future. Equity is both the means to healthy communities and an end that benefits us all." In early drafts, an aging society and older adults were not explicitly mentioned in the Plan. Through public involvement, comment and testimony, leaders in the aging community were able to stress the importance of aging issues. Due to these efforts, a number of age-friendly action items were incorporated into the Portland Plan. Age-friendly indicators can assist policy makers, citizens and activists in tracking the progress of these efforts. Considering age friendliness and different needs across the human lifespan is critical to meeting the equity goals of the Portland Plan and Metro's regional values.

Existing Age-friendly Efforts

In anticipation of this changing demographic, a number of age-friendly initiatives have started to take place both worldwide and in our region.

Portland State's Institute on Aging (IOA), established in 1969, is a leader in addressing agerelated issues including housing, age-friendly communities, global aging, and research methods. In 2006, the World Health Organization (WHO) approached IOA to participate in their Global Age-Friendly Cities project. The goal of the project was to identify age-friendly features and barriers through a series of focus groups. Out of the 33 international cities that participated, Portland was the only U.S. city. In 2010, the City of Portland, in collaboration with IOA, requested membership in the World Health Organization's Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities and was awarded membership in 2011. At that time, Portland and New York were the only two U.S. cities in the network. This network was established "to foster the exchange of experience and mutual learning between cities and communities worldwide." For more information about IOA and the Global Age-Friendly Cities project please visit their website <u>http://pdx.edu/ioa/age-friendly-communities</u>.

Every county within the Portland region has recently started initiatives, programs or other agefriendly efforts as well. Multnomah County's Task Force on Vital Aging was created in 2007 by the Multnomah County Board of Commissioners "to assess and identify new opportunities, best practices, barriers and recommendations for enhancing the independence, engagement, and contributions of older adults in Multnomah County and our region." The EngAGE in Community program within Clackamas County Social Services Division partnered with Oregon State University's Extension Service and AARP Oregon in 2011 to attempt to effect community change "by exploring aging-related issues and increasing and improving resources that will establish Clackamas County as an age-friendly place, a place for all ages." In Clark County, Washington, the Department of Community Planning, the Board of Clark County Commissioners, a 25-member task force, and engaged community stakeholders assessed the county's capacity to meet the needs of its growing number of older citizens and to connect the findings to long-range planning efforts. Washington County's Disability, Aging and Veteran Services is currently working with the Vision Action Network, local communities, and the public to write a three-year strategic plan which will improve service delivery systems in partnership with cities and stakeholders to meet the increasing needs of elders in the county. With the Portland Plan adopted, implementation of the plan will now take priority. There are over 100 action items listed in the Plan. As a member of the WHO Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities, Portland must assess its age friendliness. To this end, one of the items in the Portland Plan is the creation of an age-friendly city action plan. In addition to the action plan, Portland has recently started a major update to the city's Comprehensive Plan. It has been over 30 years since the City of Portland adopted this long-range plan to guide the future growth and development of the city.

Portland's Bureau of Planning and Sustainability recently solicited students from PSU's Master of Urban and Regional Planning (MURP) program to work on an age-friendly project as part of their workshop class. The MURP workshop engages students and community partners in community-based, client-focused planning projects. In 2012 one group of students worked with Portland's Bureau of Planning and Sustainability and IOA to create a vision for age-friendly Portland and recommended policy ideas to support that vision. The students engaged in a robust public outreach process that echoed what IOA had heard in their previous study. The final plan from this project can be found here: <u>http://agefriendlypdx.tumblr.com/REPORT</u>.

Health, Participation and Security

Health, participation and security, the cornerstones of an age-friendly place, depend on choices and opportunities. Are there opportunities to access healthy foods, recreation, transportation options and to participate in activities where older adults live? If not, how can they access them, are there transportation options that are safe, convenient and affordable?

Where do older adults live in our region?

The maps below show the distribution of adults 65 and over in the region by census tract for 1990, 2000 and 2010. In 1990, the highest percentages of older adults were in either urban or rural areas and there was a notably low percentage in suburban areas. In 2000, this concentration of 65 and older residents became more dispersed, with lower percentages of older adults in downtown Portland and close-in locations. It is difficult to determine if this was due to older adults moving out of the region or younger people moving into the area. Most likely it was a mixture of both. From 2000 to 2010, the number of tracts in which there were above-average percentages of older adults increased throughout the region and especially in the suburban locations.



Figure 4: 1990 Population Age Data by census tract Greater Portland Pulse

Source: US Census Bureau



Figure 5: 2000 Population Age Data by census tract Greater Portland Pulse

Source: US Census Bureau



Figure 6: 2010 Population Age Data by census tract

Source: US Census Bureau

Health

Health is dependent upon a number of variables both internal to and external of an individual. While all of the data in this story are relevant to health in one way or another, these indicators are some of the most important to health promotion.

Food

Access to fresh, healthy food has been shown to have positive health benefits in people of all ages. The map below shows census tracts identified as food deserts by the US Department of Agriculture and the number of people age 65 and over living in that area.



Figure 7: Number of People 65 and Over with Low Access to a Supermarket or Large Grocery Store

Source: US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service

Amenities

Access to amenities and services is important for older adults. Besides grocery stores, older adults tend to visit health care institutions at an increasing rate as they age. Lastly, libraries, parks, and schools are places where intergenerational activities can take place, as well as classes and other social activities that can be beneficial to older adults.



Figure 8: Population 65 and Over and Amenities in the Region

Source: US Census Bureau and Metro

Participation

The Portland region has a long history of civic participation that includes activism and volunteering. According to a report by Civic Life in America, 36.2 percent of all adults 16 and over reported volunteering with or through one or more groups in 2010. One important aspect of for participating in society is the ability to move from one place to another. Transportation is critical for job access, education, obtaining goods and services, receiving health care, and social activities. Social activities such as intergenerational interaction are important to older adults and youth.

Transportation

Next to housing, transportation is often the next highest household expense. Housing plus transportation costs that exceed 45% of household income do not qualify as affordable according to the Center for Neighborhood Technology (CNT). The figure below shows the number of census tracts in the region and the percent of income spent on housing and transportation as a portion of household income. Transportation options and choices can influence access to jobs, food, education, recreation, and social activities. The Portland region has many public transportation options but these options are dependent upon where people live. Bus, light rail and street car are options for many people in the region. Although options exist of many people, the majority of the region's residents use automobiles as their main form

of transportation. Research has shown that crash rates by vehicle miles driven start to increase exponentially for drivers over 65 years of age (Evans, 2000). Providing options for older adults and people of all ages to use non-automotive transportation more frequently will be critical to a prosperous future. In a recent poll conducted by Metro, 80 percent of respondents said that they wanted to live and work in areas where they could walk, bicycle, and take transit.



Figure 9: Percent of Median Household Income Spent on Housing and Transportation (all ages)

Active transportation is defined as walking and bicycling and sometimes includes transit since the rider is usually a pedestrian on at least one end of their trip. Public health professionals have touted the benefits of active transportation and the physical activity associated with it. In 1996, the United States Surgeon General issued a report on the link between physical activity and health and the prevention of chronic disease. Exercise and physical activity are important for people of all ages, but they are even more critical for older adults to maintain their quality of life. However, research has shown that physical activity levels typically decrease with age (Schutzer and Graves, 2004).

<u>Transit</u>

The map below shows where older adults live in the region and frequent-service transit stops with ¼ mile service areas. TriMet defines frequent service as transit arriving about every 15 minutes. Clearly downtown and inner eastside locations are fairly well served by frequent transit service. Areas farther east, west and south do not have the same transit coverage. Older adults who live close to a frequent service transit route are typically able to take advantage of the service. There are many tracts that have a high percentage of older adults that are not close to a frequent service transit with the resources to own and operate an

Source: Center for Neighborhood Technology and American Community Survey

automobile may not need to rely on transit. Lower income older adults or those that choose not to use their car in these areas have fewer transportation options. As the Baby Boomer generation ages, these areas of reduced access may increase.



Figure 10: Population 65 and Over and Frequent Transit Service in the Region

Source: US Census Bureau and Metro

<u>Sidewalks</u>

TriMet recently released a pedestrian network analysis report. One of the five main objectives of the analysis was to "Address the needs of seniors, people with disabilities, the economically disadvantaged, and school children." TriMet realizes that every transit rider is a pedestrian first. The pedestrian environment is critical, especially around transit stops. TriMet's buses and trains are accessible but the pedestrian environment around the stops varies from location to location.

The map below shows all of the streets within the region that have complete sidewalks on at least one side of the street and the percent of older adults 65 and over in each tract. Older parts of most cities in the region have relatively complete sidewalk coverage. Streets and housing developments constructed in the 1960s through the 1990s or in suburban locations have less complete sidewalk networks. While this map shows streets with sidewalks on at least one side, it does not detail whether there are curb ramps present, the width of the sidewalk, and if there are any obstructions such as utility poles. These pedestrian scale features are best

detailed at the neighborhood level. Once again, inner Portland has a high density of sidewalks but the west hills and locations farther from downtown have fewer sidewalks and higher percentages of older adults. This lack of pedestrian infrastructure may discourage residents from walking to services or recreation.



Figure 11: Population 65 and Over and Sidewalks in the Region

Source: US Census Bureau and Metro

Education

Educational attainment between individuals age 65 and over and 45 to 64 is shown in the graph below for the combined Clark, Clackamas, Multnomah and Washington County region. Perhaps not surprisingly, individuals in the 45 to 64 age range have a higher percentage of some college, associate's degrees, bachelor's degrees and graduate degrees and lower percentages of high school graduate or less. This chart shows that Boomers are more educated than the previous generations of older adults.



Figure 12: Educational Attainment of Adults 45-64 and 65 and Over Portland Region Greater Portland Pulse

Source: US Census Bureau, American Community Survey 2010 5-year estimate

Compared to the United States as a whole, the Portland region has a higher percentage of older adults and Boomers with associate degrees, bachelor degrees, and graduate or professional degrees. Studies have found that adults with higher education are more likely to volunteer (Jones, 1999).





Source: US Census Bureau, American Community Survey 2010 5-year estimate

Intergenerational Opportunities

Intergenerational interaction is important for people of all ages and older adults are no different. The Institute on Aging's Age-Friendly Cities project found that older adults value intergenerational events and activities. During the MURP workshop public process, the students heard from older adults who were interested in more intergenerational opportunities. Many older adults have a lifetime of experience to offer and are eager to share their knowledge. Finding meaningful ways to engage people of different generations is a crucial component of age friendliness. The map below shows census tracts within the region that have higher than average percentages of individuals over the age of 65 and higher than average individuals under the age of 18. In other words, the darkened tracts show areas with higher than average older adults and children. Of adults of all ages that volunteer in the region the highest percentage, 29.5 percent, volunteer with education or youth services according to Civic Life in America. These "intergenerational opportunity areas" identified below could be targeted for future programs, facilities or outreach efforts.

Figure 14: Intergenerational Opportunity Areas



Source: US Census Bureau

Security

Income

A critical component of equity is income, prosperity and the access to goods, services and care that comes with it. Social determinants of health are described by the WHO as "the conditions in which people are born, grow, love, work and age, including the health system. These circumstances are shaped by the distribution of money, power and resources at global, national and local levels. The social determinants of health are mostly responsible for health inequalities – the unfair and avoidable differences in health status seen within and between countries" (World Health Organization).

(C) 2012 Open Indicators Con

The passage of the Social Security Act in 1935 provided a safety net for many older adults. The monthly Social Security payment received by an individual is based on their best thirty-five years of earnings and if a person retires early, their benefit is reduced by ½ percent for each month prior to full retirement age. The chart below shows the average monthly Social Security for the Portland region and for regions with similar population sizes. At an average benefit of \$983 per month, the Portland region has the lowest benefit average.



Figure 15: 2010 Average Monthly Social Security Benefit of Retired Workers Greater Portland Pulse

Source: US Social Security Administration





Source: US Census Bureau, American Community Survey 2010 5-year estimate

Employment

Older adults are working longer, either by choice or due to necessity. Studies show that the recent recession prompted many older adults to delay retirement (McFall, 2011). For other low income older adults, retirement may not be an option.

Figure 17: Unemployment by Age and County Greater Portland Pulse



Source: US Census Bureau, American Community Survey 2010 5-year estimate

Housing

Housing is a fundamental component of safety and security in the hierarchy of human needs. Without a safe, comfortable place to live, it can be difficult for people to lead productive and meaningful lives. Housing affordability can be a concern for everyone, but especially for older adults as they are more likely to rely on a fixed income. This fixed income coupled with decreased employment prospects can pose a housing affordability problem for older adults. Social Security can assist those who receive it but this income alone is typically not sufficient to afford housing in the region. As previously stated, the average monthly Social Security income in the region for retired workers is \$983. Social Security is not available to those who have not paid into the system or have not worked long enough to be eligible. The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) annually estimates Fair Market Rent (FMR) for metropolitan areas. These FMR figures are gross estimates that include the cost of all tenantpaid utilities. The FMR for a one bedroom in the Portland-Vancouver-Beaverton OR, WA Metro Statistical Area is \$771. Social Security data is available by zip code from the U.S. Social Security Administration. The map below shows the percentage of Social Security needed to afford a monthly rent of \$771 for each zip code in the region.



Figure 18: 2010 Percentage of Average Monthly Social Security Benefit Needed to Afford a 1-Bedroom

Source: US Social Security Administration

Besides affordability, accessible housing is critical to older adults. Accessible housing typically has few stairs, wider doorways and other features that make them open to people of different ages and functional ability. Currently, there is not a reliable source for the number of accessible housing units in the Portland region and PSU's Institute on Aging reports that most housing units in the region are not accessible by the lowest accessibility standards. The Portland Plan includes an action item to increase the supply of housing accessible to meet the changing needs of people throughout their life.

Is the Portland Region Age Friendly?

The Portland region has many age-friendly features. The region has been a leader in land use planning, transportation, and sustainability. Overall, the region is age friendly. From one location to the next though, age-friendliness can vary. Downtown Portland offers complete sidewalks with curb cuts and easy access to transit but the cost of housing can be high. Locations further from urban centers may offer more affordable housing but offer fewer amenities and transportation options. Next steps could include a finer-grained look at the county, city or neighborhood area. In addition, many age-friendly features such as pedestrian walking environments and perception of safety are difficult to measure at the regional scale. These features are best identified, explored and addressed at a more local level.

Co-benefits of Age-Friendly Improvements

The vast majority of the improvements, amenities, and services described in this story that are important to older adults are important for people of all ages and abilities. Leveraging the cobenefits of age-friendly improvements that increase the quality of life not only for older adults, but for people of all ages and abilities, will be critical in future efforts.

Important data to track moving forward

This data story highlights a handful of indicators that can be tracked over time to determine if the region continues to make progress toward becoming an even more age-friendly place. Additional information worth tracking would include:

<u>Health</u>

Locations accepting new Medicare patients

Participation

Informal social networks such as places of worship, community centers and other gathering places

Percentage of older adults volunteering in the region

Security

Inventory of accessible buildings and housing

Thank you to the George Russill Fellowship for making this data story possible

Sources:

Center for Neighborhood Technology and American Community Survey, 2005-2009.

Civic Life in America; Current Population Survey Civic Supplement. Administered by the Census Bureau

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Fair Market Rent (FMR), 2012.

Metro Regional Land Information Survey (RLIS) February 2012 Release

US Census Bureau 2010 Census

US Census Bureau (2010). American Community Survey 5-year estimates

US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service

US Social Security Administration

References

- Evans, L. (2000). "Risks older drivers face themselves and threats they pose to other road users". International Journal of Epidemiology, 29, 315-322.
- Jones, F. (1999). Seniors who volunteer. Perspectives on Labor and Income, 11(3), 9–17.
- Kostyniuk, L. and J. Shope. (2003). "Driving and alternatives: Older drivers in Michigan". Journal of Safety Research. 34 (2003) 407-414.
- McFall, Brooke. (2011). "Crash and Wait? The Impact of the Great Recession on the Retirement Plans of Older Americans". American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings 101(3): 40-44.
- Schutzer, K. A., and Graves, B. S. (2004). "Barriers and motivations to exercise in older adults." Preventive Medicine, 39, 1056–106 U.S.
- Spain, D. (1997). "Societal Trends: The Aging Baby Boom and Women's Increased Independence". Federal Highway Administration, U.S. Department of Transportation, Dec. 1997.

World Health Organization website: http://www.who.int/social_determinants/en/

Disclaimer:

This indicator is based on information from credible sources. However, changes in collection methods and statistical procedures that have occurred over time may affect the data presented. Limitations that are acknowledged by the sources are noted below. Nevertheless, caution should be taken when interpreting all available data.